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Preface



THIS BOOK TELLS THE STORY of an important American success. During World War II, many Americans grimly expected that, even if the Allies won the war, the world would someday have to cope again with a raging, militaristic Germany under some future version of Adolf Hitler.1 Instead, almost sixty years after VE-Day, Germany is democratic and peaceful.

The Conquerors argues that this success owes much to the wartime leadership of Franklin Roosevelt—and that of Harry Truman, during the four months after FDR’s death. This book shows that while Roosevelt and then Truman fought the European war and bargained with their allies, Winston Churchill and Joseph Stalin, they had a larger aim than merely defeating the Nazis. They were determined that, after victory, the German system that had produced Hitler and his depraved movement should be so transformed that Germany could never again threaten the world.

As this volume demonstrates, during World War II neither Roosevelt nor Truman dealt flawlessly with the problems of Germany. In his self-assured private monologues about the German national character, FDR did not mention the Holocaust. Shockingly disengaged from the struggle to rescue Jewish refugees from Hitler, he made no serious effort to explore whether bombing the death camps might save many lives. During the last year of the war, sagging from an illness that he concealed from the public, Roosevelt was no longer able, as he once had, to balance a hundred different personalities and issues, which made him increasingly prone to mistakes. As for Truman, he suffered from having to carry out FDR’s private intentions for postwar Germany without Roosevelt having ever bothered to tell him at length what they were.

The Conquerors shows above all, however, that, while heroically leading the fight against the Nazis, FDR and Truman also helped to lay the groundwork for postwar Germans to spare themselves and the world a future Adolf Hitler. Along with vanquishing the imperial Japanese, leading Japan toward democracy and thwarting the Soviet Union, this was one of America’s great twentieth-century international achievements.

This book draws on relevant Soviet, British and German documents, but it concentrates on the American part of the story, especially the largely hidden role of FDR’s closest friend in the Cabinet, Secretary of the Treasury Henry Morgenthau, Jr. The book shows how Morgenthau’s horror on learning of the Holocaust compelled him to jeopardize his friendship with the President by demanding that he work harder to save Jews. Then, “obsessed” by Germany, he lobbied Roosevelt to support his draconian plan to destroy postwar Germany’s factories and mines and let the defeated Germans “stew in their own juice.” As the book shows, FDR’s determination to change postwar Germany moved him to endorse much of Morgenthau’s plan and pressure a reluctant Churchill to do the same. At one moment of irritation the President blurted out that male Germans should be “castrated.”

In the end, however, Roosevelt knew that, while born out of justifiable anger at the Nazis and dread of a revived postwar Germany, Morgenthau’s plan would violate old American traditions of magnanimity—and that, by fueling German resentment, it might create the conditions for another Hitler. History now shows that by destroying a barrier to Soviet power and alienating the Germans from Britain and America, the plan could have also opened the way for the Soviet Union to dominate postwar Europe. As this book relates, by the end of his life, Roosevelt had arrived at a different design, adopted in its essentials by Truman, that managed to thwart whatever menacing ambitions the Soviets had for Europe—and give postwar Germans the chance to prove themselves.

I started work on in 1992, soon after East and West Germany were merged. I researched and wrote for four years, then set the nearly completed manuscript aside to await the release of number of previously closed American, British and Soviet archives—and to write two volumes of a trilogy on Lyndon Johnson’s White House tapes. Fortified with thousands of newly opened documents, I completed the book in 2001 and 2002.

The additional time provided not only previously unrevealed information but also hindsight. Had I written and published this book shortly after Germany was unified, I might have felt compelled to be more tentative in writing about whether its democratic experiment had succeeded. But after more than a decade of democracy in that once tragic country, it is easier to arrive at a more lasting verdict on how two American Presidents helped to make it possible.

—Michael Beschloss

Washington, D.C.

August 2002

1. Americans were asked in an April 1944 survey, “Assuming that Germany loses the war, do you think she will start as soon as possible preparing for another war?” Sixty percent said yes.








“We come as conquerors, but not as oppressors.”

—General Dwight Eisenhower to the German people as Allied forces entered Germany, November 1944

“The success of this occupation can only be judged fifty years from now. If the Germans at that time have a stable, prosperous democracy, then we shall have succeeded.”

—Eisenhower in Frankfurt, October 1945





The Conquerors






Chapter One

The Plot to Murder Hitler




HAD THE PLOTTERS BEEN MORE DEFT, Thursday, July 20, 1944, would have been Adolf Hitler’s last day on earth.

Six weeks after D-Day, the United States, Great Britain and their allies had landed a million men in France. The Red Army was marching westward. When Hitler’s generals proposed retreat behind more defensible lines, the Führer had shaken his head, crying, “Victory or death!”

Now Hitler was burrowed in at the Wolf’s Lair, his field headquarters near Rastenburg, in a melancholy, dank East Prussian forest. At noon, in a log barracks, he listened to a gloomy report from one of his army chiefs about Germany’s retreat on the Eastern front. In the steamy room, Hitler took off the eyeglasses he vainly refused to use in public and mopped his forehead with a handkerchief. SS men and stenographers stood around the massive, long oak table like nervous cats. Maps were unfurled. Hitler leaned over them and squinted through a magnifying glass, grimacing at the bad news.

Into the room strode a thirty-seven-year-old officer named Claus von Stauffenberg. He was a Bavarian nobleman, with blond hair and sharp cheekbones, who had lost an eye and seven fingers to an Allied mine in Tunisia while fighting for Germany. Unknown to the Führer or the other two dozen people in the chamber, Stauffenberg was part of a secret, loosely rigged anti-Hitler conspiracy that included military officers, diplomats, businessmen, pastors, intellectuals, landed gentry.

Some wanted historians of the future to record that not all Germans were Nazis. Some simply wanted to spare their nation the full brunt of conquest by the Soviet, American and British armies. Still others were unsettled by Hitler’s war against the Jews. For years, the plotters had tried to kill Hitler with rifles and explosives, but the Führer had always survived.

Disgusted by what he heard about Nazi brutality in Russia, Stauffenberg had taught himself how to use his remaining three fingers to set off a bomb. By luck, in July 1944, he was summoned to the Wolf’s Lair to help brief Hitler about the Eastern front. When Stauffenberg entered the room, the Führer shook his hand, stared at him appraisingly, then returned to his maps.

Inside Stauffenberg’s briefcase, swaddled in a shirt, was a ticking time bomb. While the Army chief droned on, Stauffenberg put the briefcase under the table. Leaving his hat and belt behind, as if he were stepping out for a moment, Stauffenberg walked out of the room and left the barracks.

 

ABOUT A QUARTER TO ONE came a loud boom and swirl of blue-yellow flame, followed by black smoke.

Outside the barracks, Stauffenberg saw men carry out a stretcher on which lay a body shrouded by what seemed to be Hitler’s cloak. Rushing to his car for a getaway flight to Berlin, he presumed that Adolf Hitler was no more. Stauffenberg hoped that next would come a public declaration of Hitler’s assassination, an Army revolt and establishment of an anti-Nazi government in Berlin.

But when he arrived at General Staff headquarters on Bendler Street, there was only disarray. Fellow plotters were not convinced that Hitler had been killed. Aghast, Stauffenberg cried, “I myself saw Hitler carried out dead!”

But he was wrong. Striving for a better view of the maps, one of the Führer’s aides had pushed the briefcase behind one of the table’s massive supports, protecting Hitler from certain death. Stauffenberg and his adjutant, Werner von Haeften, a collaborator, had felt too rushed to put a second bomb in the briefcase. Had they done so, Hitler would have certainly been killed.

Instead, when the smoke cleared Hitler was still standing. With bloodshot eyes staring out from a soot-blackened face, he tamped down flame from his trousers. His hair stood out in spikes. His ruptured eardrums were bleeding. His right arm dangled numb at his side.

A weeping Field Marshal Wilhelm Keitel threw his arms around Hitler: “My Führer, you’re alive! You’re alive!”

After donning a fresh uniform, seemingly exhilarated by his survival, Hitler was almost merry. “Once again everything turned out well for me!” he chortled to his secretaries. “More proof that fate has selected me for my mission!” That afternoon he showed his scorched clothes to the visiting ousted Italian dictator Benito Mussolini: “Look at my uniform! Look at my burns!” Hitler had the uniform sent to his mistress, Eva Braun, for safekeeping as proof of his historical destiny.

When generals telephoned from the far reaches of the German Reich to learn whether, as some had heard, Hitler was dead, the Führer was furious that they should even raise the question. With froth on his lips, he shouted, “Traitors in the bosom of their own people deserve the most ignominious of deaths…. Exterminate them!…I’ll put their wives and children into concentration camps and show them no mercy!” He even confronted his Alsatian dog: “Look me in the eyes, Blondi! Are you also a traitor like the generals of my staff?”

It did not take Hitler’s men long to discover who was behind the plot. In Berlin, Stauffenberg and three fellow plotters were arrested. A five-minute trial, “in the name of the Führer,” found them guilty of treason. In a shadowy courtyard, they were hauled before a firing squad.

Just before his execution, remembering his country before Hitler, Stauffenberg cried out, “Long live eternal Germany!”

 

AN HOUR AFTER MIDNIGHT on Friday, July 21, Berlin time, Hitler spoke by radio from the Wolf’s Lair.1 After a burst of military music, he declared, “Fellow members of the German race!” An “extremely small clique of ambitious, unscrupulous and foolish, criminally stupid officers” had plotted to kill him and the German high command—“a crime that has no equal in German history.”

The plotters had “no bond and nothing in common with the German people.” He was “entirely unhurt, apart from minor grazes, bruises or burns.” Failure of the plot was “a clear sign from Providence that I must carry on with my work.”

Hitler had come to power claiming that Germany had lost World War I because craven politicians in Berlin had betrayed the generals. The newest plotters, he now said, had planned to “thrust a dagger into our back as they did in 1918. But this time they have made a very grave mistake.” His voice rose to a shriek: “Every German, whoever he may be, has a duty to fight these elements at once with ruthless determination…. Wipe them out at once!”

Fearing for his life, Hitler never again spoke in public. By his orders, hundreds of suspected conspirators were arrested, tortured and executed. Another five thousand of their relatives and suspected anti-Nazi sympathizers were taken to concentration camps. A decree went out for Stauffenberg’s family to be “wiped out to its last member.”

Hitler ordered some of the chief plotters “strung up like butchered cattle.” A motion picture of their execution was rushed to the Wolf’s Lair for the Führer’s enjoyment. By one account, Hitler and his chief propagandist, Joseph Goebbels, watched in the Führer’s private theater as the shirtless men on the screen swung from piano-wire nooses, writhing and dying while their carefully unbelted trousers fell off to reveal them naked.

Goebbels had demanded for years that Hitler’s enemies be stalked with “ice-cold determination.” But when the top Nazis watched the ghoulish flickering images of the lifeless plotters, it was later said, even the cold-blooded Goebbels had to cover his eyes to keep from passing out.

 

AS HITLER FINISHED HIS SPEECH from the Wolf’s Lair, Franklin Roosevelt gave his own radio address from California. Speaking from a private railroad car at the San Diego naval base, he accepted the 1944 Democratic nomination for President. For wartime security reasons, the public was told only that the base was on the “Pacific coast.”

The President was taking a five-week, fourteen-thousand-mile military inspection trip of the Pacific Coast, Hawaii and Alaska. His special nine-car railroad caravan had moved slowly from Chicago to Kansas City, El Paso and Phoenix, to “kill time” before his arrival in San Diego and spare him from having to sleep at night in a moving train. Secret Service agents had tried to keep Roosevelt’s exact whereabouts a secret. At each stop, the President and his party were asked to stay aboard the train. But Roosevelt’s famous Scottie dog, Fala, had to be taken off to relieve himself. When Pullman porters and ticket takers saw Fala, they knew who was really aboard the train called “Main 985.”

One might have expected Roosevelt to be delighted when he heard the news of a coup that might topple Adolf Hitler. If a new, post-Hitler government accepted the Allied demand for unconditional surrender, it would save millions of lives and let the Big Three—Roosevelt, Joseph Stalin and Winston Churchill—throw Allied forces fully into the war against Japan.

But Roosevelt knew that life was rarely that uncomplicated. For months, American intelligence had secretly warned him of plots against Hitler. In early July 1944, Allen Dulles of the Office of Strategic Services reported from Bern, Switzerland, that “the next few weeks will be our last chance to demonstrate the determination of the Germans themselves to rid Germany of Hitler and his gang and establish a decent regime.” Eight days before Stauffenberg set off his bomb, Dulles warned that “a dramatic event” might soon take place “up north.”2

Roosevelt would have certainly realized that a new, post-Hitler junta would probably demand a negotiated settlement. It might insist that certain members of the German military high command, government and other institutions stay in place. This would frustrate his declared intention to remake postwar Germany from the ground up so that it could never threaten the world again. Official Allied policy was unconditional surrender. But Roosevelt knew that if a rump post-Hitler government sued for peace, it would be difficult for Churchill and himself to persuade their war-exhausted peoples to keep fighting and lose hundreds of thousands more lives.

Dulles had reported that one group of anti-Hitler conspirators wanted “to prevent Central Europe from coming…under the control of Russia.” As Roosevelt knew, Churchill might be sorely tempted by a deal with a new German government that could save British lives and block the Soviets in Europe, provoking an immediate confrontation with Stalin. Even worse was the possibility that a post-Hitler government might side with the Soviets against the Anglo-Americans.

Told of the attempted assassination, reporters in San Diego badgered Roosevelt’s aides for the President’s reaction to the news. The President offered no comment. Whatever he said would be playing with fire. If he publicly welcomed the plot, he might seem to be backing off from unconditional surrender. If he denounced it, he might appear indifferent to a development that might end the war quickly. If he opposed the plot and it proved ultimately to succeed, Stalin would have a better chance to make a deal with a new post-Hitler government that would let the Soviets dominate Europe.

Instead, Roosevelt wrote a carefully worded private message to Stalin suggesting that the plot was encouraging because it revealed a Nazi foe in disarray: “We have just received news of the difficulties in Germany and especially at Hitler’s headquarters. It is all to the good.” With the same cheerful presumption that the plot could be nothing but good news, Roosevelt wrote his wife, Eleanor, “Dearest Babs…. I might have to hurry back earlier if this German revolt gets worse! I fear though that it won’t.”

 

ON FRIDAY EVENING IN CHICAGO, with Roosevelt’s consent, Democrats had chosen Senator Harry Truman of Missouri for Vice President. In San Diego, with Truman safely nominated, the President and Fala were driven in darkness to Broadway Pier and piped aboard the heavy cruiser Baltimore, bound for Honolulu. To protect Roosevelt from Japanese attack, the gleaming new ship was escorted by four destroyers. It followed an unpredictable route and was darkened from sunset to sunrise. During the voyage, sailors had to be stopped from cutting snippets of hair from Fala to send home.

The President slept soundly and sat on the vessel’s flag bridge, enjoying the sun and cool breezes. During his Pacific idyll and later in the trip, Roosevelt received intelligence reports that after Hitler’s near-murder, the “blood purge” of the Führer’s internal enemies was “ruthless.” So many Germans were being arrested that “schools and other large public buildings are being used as supplementary jails.” Roosevelt was informed that after Hitler’s clean sweep, Germans would now “probably have to wait for the complete military collapse of Germany to rid themselves of the Nazis.”

When the Baltimore arrived in Honolulu, its presidential flag was hoisted. This upset the Secret Service, but by now, almost everyone in the Hawaiian capital knew that Roosevelt was coming. Staying in a mansion bequeathed to the United States by a hard-drinking millionaire who had committed suicide, the President had what he called a “splendid” talk with General Douglas MacArthur about the Pacific war.

Only a full week after Hitler’s near-assassination did Roosevelt make his first public comment about the plot. As the President sat with reporters on the emerald lawn of the Hawaiian governor’s palace, he was excruciatingly careful: “I don’t think I know anything more about it than you do…. We can all have our own ideas about it.”3 He went on to reaffirm the Allied demand for unconditional surrender: “Practically every German denies the fact they surrendered in the last war. But this time, they are going to know it!”

From Moscow, Stalin’s propagandists agreed: “Hitlerite Germany will be driven to her knees not by insurgent officers, but by ourselves and our Allies!”

 

CHURCHILL SCOFFED at the anti-Hitler plot. Before the House of Commons, he explained that high German officials were merely trying to elude their inevitable, absolute defeat by “murdering one another.”4

The Prime Minister’s icy dismissal concealed a secret that few in His Majesty’s government knew. According to British intelligence documents released in 1998, Churchill’s secret agents were themselves trying to have Hitler murdered. Under the code name Operation Foxley, they schemed to have Hitler’s tea poisoned, his uniform doused with lethal bacteria, his train blown up, or for him to be shot during his daily walk.5

One British colonel who knew about the operation could not understand why they were going after Hitler: He was doing such a good job of losing the war! Killing the Führer, he warned, might unite Germans against the Allied armies. Assassination would “canonize” Hitler and “give birth to the myth that Germany would have been saved had he lived.” Another British officer said, “I think Hitler should be permitted to live until he dies of senile decay before the eyes of the people he has misled…. Make him a laughing stock.”

A more sober British intelligence man insisted that they keep on trying. Hitler’s “mystical hold” over the German people, he wrote, was “keeping the country together” as the Anglo-Americans struggled to free Europe.

 

ROOSEVELT AGREED WITH Stalin and Churchill that the paramount question left by the European war would be what happened to Germany. He believed that a lasting peace would depend on whether he and Churchill could maintain their friendship with the Soviet Union and whether Germany could be so transformed that it would never threaten the world again.

But how? Even with the European war rushing toward climax and Allied armies about to pierce the German border, the President refused to commit himself. He told exasperated aides that much would depend on “what we and the Allies find when we get into Germany—and we are not there yet.”

With his extravagant confidence in his ability to master events, Franklin Roosevelt was keeping his options open until the final possible moment.

1. The broadcast was so late because Hitler’s men had to summon the radio crew, who were swimming in the Baltic.

2. With the time-honored self-protectiveness of intelligence chiefs, William Donovan of the OSS was worried that Roosevelt might be angry that Donovan had not sent him a more specific warning of the July 20 plot against Hitler. Covering his rear end, two days later he sent the President a transcript of a telephone conversation he had had with Dulles, saying that the attempt “did not come as a great surprise.”

3. Roosevelt insisted that even this anodyne comment not be quoted.

4. After the war, Churchill made an amende honorable, insisting that he had been “misled” about the size of the anti-Hitler conspiracy: “These men fought without help from within or from abroad, driven forward only by the restlessness of their conscience.”

5. Another related plan was to infiltrate a murderous British agent into the harem of Hitler’s womanizing propagandist, Joseph Goebbels, whose wife had abandoned him: “Untrammelled in any way, Goebbels may pursue these affairs with an even greater zest than before.” Still another would have Rudolf Hess, Hitler’s onetime deputy, who was imprisoned in England, “hypnotized” to return to Germany and kill the SS chief Heinrich Himmler: “Hess is known to be an extremely nervous individual and should be very susceptible to hypnotic treatment.”









Chapter Two

“Unconditional Surrender”




NO OTHER AMERICAN PRESIDENT has had more early experience on German soil than Franklin Roosevelt. After his elderly father suffered a heart attack, his parents brought their only son to Germany eight times, where they took the cure at the famous health resort of Bad Nauheim.

During Franklin’s first visit in 1891, at the age of nine, he was enrolled for six weeks in a local school—mainly to improve his German. “Rather amusing,” recorded his mother, Sara, “but I doubt if he learns much.” The Roosevelts stayed in a British-owned hotel called the Villa Britannia. Anglophile, partial to French culture, they considered most Germans crude and inferior. Sara complained about dining with “German swine.”

The Germany that Franklin first encountered had been created twenty years earlier, after the Franco-Prussian War, by the “Iron Chancellor,” Otto von Bismarck—twenty ancient kingdoms, free cities and provinces forged into a single Reich. In 1890, Bismarck was fired by Kaiser Wilhelm II, who spoke of Germany’s “destiny” to rule.

By chance, in 1901, Roosevelt actually met the Kaiser. At nineteen, he and his mother were sailing the Norwegian fjords when they encountered Wilhelm II’s gleaming white yacht Hohernzollern and were invited aboard for tea. As Roosevelt recalled, he filched a pencil bearing the bite marks of the Kaiser’s teeth.

Years later, as President, Roosevelt liked to believe that his own early German experience gave him a special understanding of German politics and psychology. He recalled German schoolchildren chattering about “the inevitable war with France and the building of the Reich into the greatest world power.” He insisted that on his first visit there, Germany was “not a military nation.” Politics was local and there was “decent family life.” But by the late 1890s, he recalled, boys and girls wore uniforms and were “taught to march.”

Roosevelt shared his mother’s social prejudices. In 1905, during his honeymoon with Eleanor, he wrote his mother from a German spa that “by a show of severity” he had arranged to sit as far as possible from where Germans dined—“four long pigsties, where the strange assortment of mortals (swine are mortal, n’est-ce pas?) consume victuals.” He noted that when Germans spoke of his distant cousin, President Theodore Roosevelt, there was “a certain animosity and jealousy as usual.” During the same trip, Eleanor and he were riding by train through the German countryside when a German passenger brusquely reached across him to shut the window without asking. Eleanor wrote her new mother-in-law that she “thought Franklin would burst and a duel would ensue.”

During World War II, while waging war against Hitler, Roosevelt told friends and family colorful stories—possibly exaggerated or imaginary—about his youthful brushes with German authoritarianism. He claimed that while pedaling with his tutor through southern Germany, he had been arrested four times in a single day.1

In another tale, perhaps an embellishment of his honeymoon encounter with the rude German on the train, he claimed that while traveling with his mother and a friend of hers to Berlin, a “Prussian officer” had once closed the train window. Since his mother’s friend had a “bad headache,” Roosevelt reopened it. According to him, the Prussian twice again closed it. As Roosevelt claimed, he knocked the Prussian to the floor, for which he was thrown into a Berlin jail: “My mother called the American embassy, but it took them several hours to get me out of prison.”

 

ROOSEVELT’S MORE SERIOUS EDUCATION on Germany came during World War I. When fighting broke out in Europe in 1914, he was a thirty-two-year-old Assistant Secretary of the Navy. President Woodrow Wilson decreed neutrality, but Roosevelt privately wrote, “I hope England will join in and with France and Russia force peace at Berlin!”

After American entry into the war in April 1917, Roosevelt gave speeches against “Kaiserism” and “Prussianism.” He insisted that Germans were a “misguided” people “subjected to the rule of a military caste” and “led along a path they could not understand.” In the summer of 1918, touring battlefields in France and Belgium, he wrote in his diary of “stolid, stupid” German prisoners and the “little pile of dead Boche” that offended “our sensitive noses.”

President Wilson’s decisions on Germany foreshadowed the decisions Roosevelt would have to make a generation later, during World War II. Committed by his Fourteen Points to self-determination and enforcement of the peace by a League of Nations, Wilson said he had “no desire to march triumphantly into Berlin.”

Roosevelt insisted that if England, France and the United States did not plunge deep into Germany, the Germans would convince themselves that they had not really lost the war. Germany’s aggressive militarism would survive. He wanted the Germans “cut down and purged.” When he was asked for advice on peace terms for the German navy, Roosevelt argued for unconditional surrender. “The one lesson the German will learn is the lesson of defeat,” he said.

In January 1919, after the armistice, he took his wife to the ancient fortress at Ehrenbreitstein, on the Rhine and Mosel Rivers. He had seen the bastion as a boy and wanted to see it flying an American flag. When he saw none, he was outraged to be told that the local American commander did not want to upset the Germans. Roosevelt took up the matter with General John J. Pershing, commander of the American Expeditionary Force, who ordered the Stars and Stripes hoisted “within the hour.”

Under the Treaty of Versailles, Germany was ordered to slash its military; demilitarize the eastern bank of the Rhine; surrender its colonies; give land to Belgium, France, Denmark and Poland; accept absolute blame for World War I; and pay the Allies reparations for damage caused by the war—ultimately billions of dollars. The French Prime Minister, Georges Clemenceau, had insisted on much of this over Wilson’s objections. The Allies also imposed a new political structure, based on proportional representation, to prevent another dictatorship.

Most of this ultimately fed German extremism. Adolf Hitler and others charged that their military had been “stabbed in the back” by “criminal” politicians and kept from winning the war. The new legislature was mired in deadlock and chaos, as none of the dozens of new political parties proved large enough to form a stable government.

Some Americans complained that the German peace had been too soft. The Allies had occupied only the western bank of the Rhine and allowed the German government to continue. Five years after the end of World War I, General Pershing complained that the Allies had never made sure the Germans “knew they were beaten,” adding, “It will have to be done all over again.”

Roosevelt agreed. In the 1920s, as a lawyer and private businessman recovering from infantile paralysis, which he contracted at the age of thirty-nine, he felt that Versailles had been both too hard, burdening Germany with financial and other obligations it would only resent and could never fulfill, and too soft, because it did not do enough to keep Germans from wishing for war and being able to wage it.2 He watched gloomily as his worst fears unfolded. The Weimar democracy sagged under hyperinflation, war debt and reparations, resentment over the harshness of the Versailles treaty, and the conviction, fanned by Hitler, that betrayers of the German military had held back Germany from its historical destiny.

Roosevelt thought Wilson should have insisted that the victors occupy Germany and train the Germans to give up their old ambitions for dictatorship, a strong military and a world empire. When he saw Hitler come to power shortly before his inauguration in 1933, Roosevelt realized earlier than most Americans that during his term in office, the United States might be forced to pay for Wilson’s mistakes.

In December 1941, during a radio speech to Americans after Pearl Harbor, Roosevelt insisted that the United States could “accept no result save victory, final and complete.” Later in the war, the President said that when victory in Europe came, the Allies must heed the lesson of 1918. In Germany, they “must not allow the seeds of the evils we shall have crushed to germinate and reproduce themselves in the future.”

 

IN JANUARY 1943, the President seized the opportunity to practice what he preached. After a bumpy forty-eight-hour flight in a requisitioned Pan American clipper, his first air journey as President, he landed in the old Moroccan port city of Casablanca to meet with Winston Churchill.

Coping with the German thrust into the western Soviet Union, Joseph Stalin stayed home. Anglo-American forces had just halted Hitler’s advance in North Africa, but the Nazis were in control in Europe from the Atlantic to Leningrad and Stalingrad. Before the Casablanca meeting, Roosevelt had warned Churchill that they should not “give Stalin the impression that we are settling everything between ourselves before we meet him.”

Stalin was lambasting his allies in public for their refusal to open a promised second front against Hitler—the invasion of western Europe that would relieve German pressure on the Red Army. The British ambassador in Moscow, Clark Kerr, advised Churchill that the Soviets were threatening to break with Britain and America unless a second front was opened soon. Some Soviet officials were wondering aloud whether the Anglo-Americans were secretly plotting to let the Germans bleed the Soviet Union dry, after which they would make a separate peace with Berlin.

At Casablanca, Roosevelt and Churchill agreed to issue a public statement that the Allies were “resolved to pursue the war to the bitter end.” From Roosevelt’s point of view, this would prevent repeating Wilson’s mistakes in handling Germany at the end of World War I, and calm Stalin’s fears about Anglo-American determination. It would be a defiant statement at a moment when the Allies had been thrown back on their heels in Europe. It would also foreclose disagreements among the Big Three and within each of their governments about war aims. Over luncheon, Roosevelt suggested that they use the phrase “unconditional surrender.”

Churchill had his private doubts but was so dependent on Roosevelt’s support of England that he strained to show enthusiasm.3“Perfect!” he said. “I can just see how Goebbels and the rest of them will squeal.”

“It’s just the thing for the Russians…. Uncle Joe might have made it up himself!” Roosevelt said.

At a press conference marking the end of the Casablanca meeting, Roosevelt told reporters, “I think we have all had it in our hearts and heads before, but I don’t think it has ever been out on paper…and that is…that peace can come to the world only by the total elimination of German and Japanese war power.” This meant “unconditional surrender by Germany, Italy and Japan.” The Allies would fight to destroy “the philosophies in those countries which are based on conquest and the subjugation of other people.” He declared that Casablanca should be called the “unconditional surrender” meeting. Churchill chimed in, “Hear, hear!”

 

AFTER RETURNING TO LONDON, Churchill defended the policy of unconditional surrender before the House of Commons: “Twice within our lifetime” the Germans had “plunged the world into their wars of expansion and aggression…. Nazi tyranny and Prussian militarism are the two main elements in German life which must be absolutely destroyed…if Europe and the world are to be spared a third and still more frightful conflict.”

The Prime Minister’s eloquence concealed the fact that he did not quite believe what he was saying. He had been loathe to quarrel with Roosevelt at Casablanca, but he was pessimistic that unconditional surrender would placate Stalin. He told his War Cabinet afterward, “Nothing in the world will be accepted by Stalin as an alternative to our placing fifty or sixty divisions in France by the spring of this year.”

More than Roosevelt, Churchill worried that unconditional surrender would cause Germans to struggle harder against the Allies and prolong the war: If the Germans had nothing to hope for after an Allied victory, why not fight until the bitter end? After Casablanca, Joseph Goebbels’s propagandists warned the German people that the unconditional surrender demand was hard proof that if the Allies won the war, they would enslave and exterminate them.

Nor did Churchill share Roosevelt’s utopian aspirations to transform postwar German society. Suspicious of Stalin, he knew that the chief bulwark against Soviet domination of postwar Europe might have to be Germany. To keep that bulwark in place, the Anglo-Americans might have to ensure that the German infrastructure was operating as soon as possible after their victory.

Churchill decided that he would interpret unconditional surrender in his own way. Privately, he told associates that, for him, it simply meant that after victory, the Allies would have a “free hand” in Germany, unbound by previous commitments—not that the victors should feel licensed to “behave in a barbarous manner” or “blot out Germany from among the nations of Europe.”

 

STALIN WAS INFORMED ABOUT Roosevelt and Churchill’s unconditional surrender declaration just as the Red Army turned back the Germans at Stalingrad. As Churchill had foreseen, the Soviet leader was not happy about it. He was angry that his allies had not consulted him in advance. He immediately understood that they might use it as a poor substitute for the second front he was waiting for. He feared, even more than Churchill, that the unconditional surrender demand would unite and steel the German people against the Allies.

Stalin was also reluctant to say things in public that might jaundice postwar Germans against the Soviet Union. He knew the difficulty of converting Germans to the Soviet way. Communism fits Germany,” he once said, “like a saddle fits a cow.” Still, like Lenin, he had never stopped dreaming of a Communist Germany—or at least that Germany, with its industrial might and skilled manpower, might be made to help modernize Russia. He was determined that millions of Soviet soldiers should not have lost their lives in World War II only to be faced with a hostile German nation. He was still in a cold fury over Hitler’s surprise invasion of the Soviet Union in June 1941.

Stalin’s approach to a postwar Germany was to play a double game. Publicly he would avoid the inflammatory anti-German rhetoric heard from Roosevelt and Churchill, subtly telegraphing to Germans that the Soviets might be the most friendly of their potential conquerors. Privately he would demand that his allies commit themselves to draconian methods to shatter postwar German power—partition, mass trials and executions, forced labor, expulsions of millions of Germans from German territory, as well as more traditional demands for reparations and disarmament. Such measures could keep Germany from threatening the Soviet Union again for a generation or so. They might also create a power vacuum allowing the Soviet Union to push into postwar central Europe.

In February 1942 Stalin made it clear to the world that he would not endorse the view that there was no difference between the Nazis and the German people. He declared, “Hitlers come and go, but the German people and the German state remain.” Denouncing the “prattle” in the “foreign press” that the Red Army wished to “destroy the German state,” he claimed that his only aim was to “drive out the German occupiers from our country.”

In the summer of 1943, Stalin formed what amounted to his own German government-in-exile, the National Committee for a Free Germany. Its members included old German Communists who had fled to Moscow and high-ranking German prisoners of war whom the Soviets had captured at Stalingrad. Designed to entice German “working people,” its platform extolled the glories of Soviet-German cooperation. Some of the committee’s members were quietly told that after the war, unlike some of Germany’s enemies, the Soviet Union was determined to preserve a unified German state and a strong German army.

Stalin publicly claimed that the Free Germany Committee was intended to reduce German resistance. But many American and British planners feared, with good reason, that its actual purpose was to serve as the political spearhead of Soviet influence in postwar Germany. Under the best of circumstances, from Stalin’s point of view, the new committee could be the embryo of a puppet postwar German government under Soviet control. Some of its radio broadcasts to Germany clearly suggested that Soviet occupation would be more lenient than one by the Anglo-Americans.

William Bullitt, who had served as Roosevelt’s ambassador to the Soviet Union and France, warned the President that “Stalin’s objective is to set up a Soviet Quisling government in Germany.”4 After an Allied victory, he wrote, the United States must stop “the flow of the Red amoeba” and “keep the Bolsheviks from replacing the Nazis as masters of Europe.”

While publicly using the Free Germany committee and other means to persuade the Germans of Soviet friendliness, Stalin was privately hustling his allies to make sure that postwar Germany was dismembered. As early as December 1941, in Moscow, meeting with British Foreign Secretary Anthony Eden, he had privately demanded that East Prussia, the Rhineland, Bavaria and Austria all be made into separate nation-states, and that France seize German territory all the way up to the Rhine. When Eden reported to Churchill, the Prime Minister replied that publicly raising the idea of dismemberment now would “rally all Germans around Hitler.”

At the White House in March 1943, Eden warned Roosevelt that at the end of the war, Stalin, with his “deep-seated mistrust of the Germans,” would “insist” on dismemberment. Unless Roosevelt and Churchill reached an “understanding” with Stalin about postwar Germany, “either Germany will go Communist or an out-and-out anarchic state will set in.”

Roosevelt was still haunted by the failure of Woodrow Wilson. He told Eden that he hoped “we would not use the methods discussed at Versailles” to impose a division of Germany. Better instead to “encourage the differences and ambitions that will spring up within Germany” for separate states after the war. He recalled that before Bismarck, there had been many German states and peoples. Even if there should be no such spontaneous movement, Prussia, with its militaristic tradition, must certainly be removed: “The Prussians cannot be permitted to dominate all Germany.”

The frustrated Eden left the White House appalled by what he privately called Roosevelt’s “cheerful fecklessness.” He sarcastically wondered whether the President had learned European history and geography through his passion for stamp collecting. He felt that Roosevelt “seemed to see himself disposing of the fate of many lands” like “a conjuror, skillfully juggling with balls of dynamite, whose nature he failed to understand.”

Eden did not realize that Roosevelt’s manner was to think aloud. He would soon discover that his advice about toughness toward Germany had made more of an impression on the President than he thought.

1. For swiping cherries, rolling over a goose, taking his bicycle into a train station and riding his bicycle into a German village after the sun had gone down.

2. Roosevelt did feel that the British economist John Maynard Keynes’s well publicized argument that blamed Versailles for later German extremism was overdrawn.

3. Churchill had cleared the demand against Germany with his War Cabinet before departure. He knew that it would reassure the United States that after victory in Europe, Britain would go to war against Japan.

4. Meaning a Soviet puppet government. Vidkun Quisling was a Norwegian collaborator with the Nazis.









Chapter Three

“Fifty Thousand Germans Must Be Shot!”




BY THE FALL OF 1943, Stalin was growing all the more impatient for the Anglo-Americans to open the second front they had pledged. That September, he was again outraged when Churchill and Roosevelt froze the Soviets out of the unconditional surrender by the new Italian government of General Pietro Badoglio, who had deposed Mussolini.

Roosevelt asked his Secretary of State, Cordell Hull, to fly to Moscow for a meeting with the Soviet Foreign Minister, Vyacheslav Molotov, along with Anthony Eden. Physically exhausted, Hull suffered from diabetes and tuberculosis, which he concealed. He was claustrophobic and had never flown on an airplane before. But he was so thrilled to be invited to make the journey that, without asking his internist or his wife, he quickly told the President yes.

For years, the old ex-congressman from Tennessee had operated less as Roosevelt’s Secretary of State than as his aggrieved chaperone. With grace and loyalty, Hull had tried to provide structure to a President prone to chatting about unconventional ideas, and who made Hull’s life miserable by flagrantly circumventing him with a ceaseless parade of personal envoys. He complained, “I just don’t know what’s going on and the President won’t let me help him.”

The President privately joked about Hull’s lisp and loved to impersonate him, crying, “Jesus Chwist!” For a decade he had done much of his important business through Under Secretary of State Sumner Welles, an old Roosevelt family friend whom Hull hatefully denounced as an “all-American thun of a bitch.”

Roosevelt had asked Welles to attend the Moscow conference instead of Hull. But by the fall of 1943, the President had concluded that widespread rumors about Welles’s secret homosexual liaisons—eagerly spread by Hull with theatrical indignation—made him a security risk, forcing Roosevelt to sadly banish his old friend from public life.

Roosevelt had left Hull in Washington when he went to see Churchill at Casablanca. When Hull learned of Roosevelt’s demand for unconditional surrender, he was upset. He feared that the demand would prolong the war against Germany and require the Allies to “take over every phase” of German life after victory in Europe. As Hull later recalled, he asked the President to show him the “political part” of his secret correspondence with Churchill. Roosevelt said “he would give it to me, and three hours later, I get a message that the President had decided he would not do it.”

After Pearl Harbor, Roosevelt had assigned postwar planning for Germany and the rest of the world to Hull’s State Department. From the President’s point of view, somebody had to do it while he attended to the more urgent problems of winning the war. Although he conscientiously met with postwar planning committees, he believed that by the time World War II was over, any plans would have been revised a hundred times anyway and that, as always, he would keep the ultimate power of decision in his own hands.

While Roosevelt ran the war, Hull’s planners envisioned a strong, self-supporting postwar German economy that would help restore sanity to its society and empower the rebuilding of Europe. Free trade would buttress German democracy and stability.

In September 1943, Roosevelt sent Hull a copy of a letter published in the New York Times by his friend Gerard Swope, president of General Electric. Swope had recommended that after the war, the Allies break up Germany, slap strict controls on German heavy industry and disperse the “Prussian military clique.”

Roosevelt liked the letter. Hull was aghast. At the White House on Wednesday, October 5, he told the President that postwar Germany should remain unified, although stripped of East Prussia, with other minor border changes: “Imposed partition would be little short of a disaster both for Germany and for us.”

Roosevelt disagreed. He reminded Hull that he had traveled and studied in Germany. He could speak German and he knew the country better than Hull did. Maybe his memories were “too old” to be “valid,” he said, but to his mind, the only way to prevent another war was to partition Germany.

The immediate postwar period would be “trial and error,” he told Hull. But first they should slice Germany into three or more states, bound only by a system of common services, and strip those new states of “all military activities” and “armament industries.” East Prussia should be separated from Germany, “and all dangerous elements of the population forcibly removed.” And postwar Germans should provide reparations to those countries that were Hitler’s victims—“not money,” as after World War I, “but equipment and manpower.”

Roosevelt was drawing as usual from his half-remembered experiences in Germany, with little careful thought or reading about the country or its future. He showed little understanding, for instance, of the difference between the autocracies of the last Kaiser and Hitler—or of Prussia, which he incorrectly viewed as the militaristic nucleus of Nazi evil. It was not Prussia but Bavaria that was the seedbed for Naziism. The vulgar flamboyance of Hitler’s circle flouted old Prussian instincts of self-restraint and respect for tradition.

Hull did not know it, since Roosevelt did not allow him to read the pertinent secret cables and documents, but Roosevelt’s first priority at the moment was to mollify Stalin, whom he presumed to be interested in German reparations and dismemberment. He wanted Hull to let Stalin know that, even though opening the second front might take a little longer, on postwar Germany his American ally was sympathetic.

 

AFTER COUGHING UP a considerable amount of blood during his air journey, Hull arrived in Moscow on Tuesday, October 18, 1943. At Roosevelt’s instance, he told Stalin’s Foreign Minister, Molotov, that after the war, Prussia, the “taproot of all evil,” should be severed from Germany. Many of his experts were “extremely skeptical” about further dismemberment, he said, but the idea had support “in high quarters” in Washington, and the United States would keep an “open mind.” Certainly German power should be “decentralized.”

Molotov replied that the Soviets would endorse any measure to “render Germany harmless in the future.”

Hull made offers stemming from what he and Roosevelt thought to be Stalin’s demand for a hard peace with postwar Germany. Sounding tougher than his own planners, he proposed that the Allies dismantle the German military and stop the production of arms, including the materials that were “essential” to make them.1 Postwar Germany must offer reparations in goods and services for its “physical damage” to the Soviet Union and other countries. This was no small enticement to the Soviets, who were eager to rebuild.

Hull proposed that after Germany’s defeat, the country be jointly occupied by all three Allied armies and run by an Allied Control Council. Under a bill of rights, the council would help create a democratic German government that would provide Germans a “tolerable standard of living.”

Molotov said that Hull’s ideas sounded promising as long as they were “a minimum and not a maximum proposal.” Molotov was much tougher on Germany than Hull, but the Secretary of State felt that the Soviet aggressiveness toward the Germans might keep Stalin from trying to make a separate peace with Berlin that might lead to a Communist postwar Germany.

When the discussion turned to German war criminals, Hull spoke up with untypical vehemence: “If I had my way, I would take Hitler and Mussolini and Tojo and their arch-accomplices and bring them before a drumhead court-martial.2 And at sunrise on the following day there would occur an historic incident!” Molotov and his aides applauded and cheered.

At the end of the conference, Hull, Eden and Molotov issued what soon became known as the “Moscow Declaration” on war crimes. Using language drafted beforehand by Churchill, they decreed that Germans accused of atrocities would be “sent back to the countries in which their abominable deeds were done.” The three victors would jointly try major war criminals whose offenses were not restricted to one country.

One purpose of the Moscow Declaration was to discourage Germans from committing new atrocities as Hitler’s armies retreated. It warned that the Allies would pursue them “to the uttermost ends of the earth.”

When Hull returned to Washington, Eleanor Roosevelt found him “enthusiastic about all the Russians,” whom he had found “like your country cousins come to town.” Hull was “convinced they will make no separate peace” with Germany.

 

THE MOSCOW CONFERENCE had been planned as a prelude to the first meeting between Roosevelt, Stalin and Churchill in Soviet-occupied Tehran. When Hull returned to Washington, he found the President “looking forward to his meeting with Stalin with the enthusiasm of a boy.”

Stalin had demanded that the meeting be held at a place of his own convenience. With a not-too-subtle reminder that the Soviet Union was carrying the lion’s share of the war against Germany, he had told Roosevelt that he could not leave his military post and threatened to defer the promised conference until after Roosevelt and Churchill opened their second front. The President agreed to Stalin’s suggestion of Tehran, adding in his cable that he hoped the conclave would bring the “further disturbance of Nazi morale.”

On Saturday morning, November 13, 1943, Roosevelt boarded the U.S.S. Iowa on Chesapeake Bay. Although Hull had not embarrassed him in Moscow, the President once again left him home.

“It’s a lovely day but cold,” the President wrote in a diary he briefly kept. “I am being showered with every security and every comfort—and I am optimistic about results.” Referring to the secrecy of the trip, he added, “I much wonder when the cat will get out of the bag!” During the Atlantic voyage, he wrote, “I revel in an old pair of trousers and a fishing shirt.”

Conferring aboard ship with his Chiefs of Staff, Roosevelt drew three lines across a National Geographic map of Germany. “Practically speaking,” he said, “there should be three German states after the war.” These would evolve out of the three zones occupied by the Americans, British and Soviets. That would be “okay” with Stalin. A southern German state would be Catholic, he said. The northwestern would be Protestant. He joked that the religion of the northeastern one would be “Prussianism.”

Roosevelt predicted that Churchill would try to fob off the landlocked southern German state, adjacent to France, on the United States. He would refuse. He didn’t want to get entangled in postwar French problems: “France is a British baby.” Instead, Roosevelt wanted the northwestern state, which would include port cities such as Bremen and Hamburg. He also told the Chiefs, “The United States should have Berlin.”

The President predicted that at the end of the European war there would “definitely be a race for Berlin.” The United States must be ready to put its “divisions into Berlin as soon as possible” so that no Russians could seize Berlin before the Anglo-Americans could get there. Roosevelt’s close aide Harry Hopkins chimed in that the United States should “be ready to put an airborne division into Berlin two hours after the collapse of Germany.”

Roosevelt told the Chiefs that after victory in Europe, he expected to field an occupation force of about a million American troops. The Army’s Chief of Staff, General George Marshall, asked him how long American soldiers would remain in Europe.

“For at least one year,” replied Roosevelt. “Maybe two.”

 

AFTER STOPPING IN CAIRO for a meeting with Churchill and the Chinese leader Chiang Kai-shek, the President arrived in Tehran on Saturday, November 27, 1943. Although the scheduled meeting had been kept secret, there were death threats against the Big Three. Hitler’s police chief, Heinrich Himmler, had gone to the extreme of asking German magicians and mystics when and where the Allied leaders would meet. Soviet intelligence warned Roosevelt’s Secret Service that Nazi operatives had dropped by parachute into Tehran.

To avoid the threat, the President rode from the airport into the city in a plain Army staff car. Riding in the presidential limousine was a Roosevelt double, outfitted with the famous cape, fedora and cigarette holder, grinning at Persian troops lining the avenues. The President agreed to be lodged at a yellow-brick mansion within the Soviet embassy compound so as to avoid dangerous trips around the city.

At the Soviet embassy on Sunday afternoon, November 28, Stalin was clearly uneasy at his first encounter with Roosevelt. To set him at ease, the President offered him a cigarette. “The doctors don’t allow it,” said Stalin. Roosevelt replied, “Doctors should be obeyed.”

Later, at the Big Three’s first session, Churchill declared that the room held the “greatest concentration of power” the world had “ever seen.” Roosevelt joked that as the “youngest of the three present,” he wanted to welcome his “elders.” He predicted that “our three great nations” would “work in close cooperation for the prosecution of the war” and “for generations to come.”

To start the talks on the right footing, Roosevelt opened debate on an Anglo-American invasion of Europe for May 1944. He hoped the invasion would divert at least thirty or forty German divisions from the Soviet front. Stalin predicted that the Germans would “fight like devils” to prevent a landing in France.

That evening, over an American dinner of steak and baked potatoes, Stalin told Roosevelt and Churchill that they were “too lax” about postwar Germany. How could they ever reform a people so blindly obedient? He recalled that during a Leipzig visit in 1907, he had watched two hundred Germans miss an important mass meeting because there was no one on the train platform to punch their tickets.

To the President’s surprise, Stalin badgered him about unconditional surrender. It was welding the Germans together and costing Allied lives. Holding out specific terms for surrender, “no matter how harsh,” would hasten the day of German capitulation.

Anxious not to quarrel, Roosevelt changed the subject. Referring to the German word for empire, he said it was “very important not to leave in the German mind the concept of ‘the Reich.’…The very word should be stricken from the language.”

Stalin said it was “not enough to eliminate the word. The very Reich itself must be rendered impotent, so as never again to plunge the world into war.” After victory in Europe, the Allies must retain “the strategic positions necessary to prevent a revival of German militarism.”

Stalin insisted that German territory east of the Oder River be granted to Poland. Roosevelt and Churchill did not object. The President said that, in the same spirit, he wanted to make sure that access to the Baltic Sea was always open. Perhaps an international zone could be formed around the Kiel Canal, which connected the Baltic to the North Sea.3

Stalin flushed red. As Roosevelt’s words were translated, he thought the President was questioning the Soviet Union’s seizure of Latvia, Lithuania and Estonia in 1940.

While the mistake was corrected, Roosevelt suddenly fell ill. With his face turning green and sweat pouring from his chin, he lifted a shivering hand to his forehead and was wheeled out of the room. “We’ve got to hurry,” said the President’s Secret Service agent Mike Reilly. “The Boss is sick!”

Roosevelt was suffering from his arduous trip, but some of the Americans in the room were terrified that their chief had been poisoned.

 

AFTER ROOSEVELT’S DEPARTURE, Stalin sat down on a sofa with Churchill and warned him that Germany had “every possibility of recovering from this war.” The Germans were “talented people” and “could easily threaten the world again in fifteen or twenty years.”

Churchill agreed. If that happened, “we would have betrayed our soldiers.” Why not strip postwar Germany of all aviation and arms-related industries?

Not enough, said Stalin. “Furniture factories could be transformed into airplane factories. Watch factories could make fuses for shells.” Churchill must remember that the Germans had used “toy rifles” to teach thousands of their people how to shoot in the 1930s. Stalin said he had ordered German prisoners of war called into his presence to explain why they had rampaged into Russian homes and raped Russian women. They replied that Hitler had told them to. Stalin said he had had them executed.

After Versailles, Stalin said, “peace seemed assured, but Germany recovered very quickly.” Churchill said that the problem was that in 1919, the great powers were “inexperienced” about Germany—and Russia had not helped to devise the peace. After World War II, he said, there was no reason why Russia’s army, Britain’s navy and America’s air force could not join to keep the peace in Europe for fifty years.

The Prime Minister allowed that he did not agree with Roosevelt’s insistence that there was no difference between Hitler and the German people. During wartime, he said, you never distinguish between the enemy’s leaders and its people. But he and Stalin must recognize, in truth, that this war was “largely the fault of the German leaders.” The Allies could change the German people with a generation of “self-sacrificing, toil and education.”

Listening to Churchill merely confirmed Stalin’s view that, with a wary eye on Soviet power in the postwar world, Churchill was privately soft on Germany. He crisply told the Prime Minister that “nothing” he had suggested was enough to solve the “German problem.”

 

ON MONDAY AFTERNOON, with Roosevelt feeling better, the meeting resumed. As at all of their wartime summits, the Big Three discussed a host of problems, but an abiding theme was Germany and its postwar future.

Stalin complained of what he saw as Churchill’s strange diffidence about Germany. With the Franco-Prussian War of 1870 and two world wars in its history, why should Germany not be expected to start a third world war by 1959 or 1960?

Roosevelt described his hope for a postwar system of “four policemen”—the Soviet Union, Britain, America and China—and a United Nations organization that would protect the world against Germany and Japan.4 They could “move swiftly” against the first hint that Germany was converting its factories to war.

Stalin disagreed. “The Germans have shown great ability to conceal such signs.” He insisted that “something more serious” was needed.

That evening, with the Marshal hosting a dinner of borscht and fish, Churchill toasted “Stalin the Great.” But Stalin responded, “You are pro-German!” He said that Churchill’s attitude seemed to be “The Devil is a Communist and my friend God is a Conservative.” Stalin added that his own attitude was that “if Germany moves a muscle, she will be rapidly stopped.”

Stalin continued, “At least fifty thousand—and perhaps a hundred thousand—of the German command staff must be physically liquidated.” Then he raised his glass. “I propose a salute to the swiftest possible justice for all Germany’s war criminals—justice before a firing squad! I drink to our unity in killing them as quickly as we capture them. All of them! There must be at least fifty thousand.”

What Churchill heard deeply disturbed him. He knew that Stalin’s demand went far beyond October’s three-power Moscow Declaration of War Crimes. He replied, “The British people will never stand for such mass murder…. I will not be a party to any butchery in cold blood.” War criminals “must pay,” but he would not agree to execute soldiers who had fought for their country: “I would rather be taken out in the garden, here and now, and be shot myself than sully my country’s honor by such infamy.”

Roosevelt said, “As usual, it seems to be my function to mediate this dispute.” In jest, he asked them to compromise on a smaller number—“say, forty-nine thousand, five hundred.”

One of the guests at the dinner was the President’s son Elliott, a reconnaissance pilot based in England. He raised his glass and said, “Russian, American and British soldiers will settle the issue for most of those fifty thousand in battle, and I hope that those fifty thousand war criminals will be taken care of—but many hundreds of thousands more Nazis as well!”

Stalin rose to his feet, gave Elliott a bear hug and clinked glasses with him.

Outraged, Churchill addressed the President’s son: “Much as I love you, Elliott, I cannot forgive you for making such a dastardly statement. How dare you say such a thing!” Churchill stalked away from the table, but Stalin chased after him, grabbed his shoulders and said he had only been kidding.

When the Prime Minister returned to his rooms after dinner, his doctor, Lord Moran, noted that he had fallen into one of his “black depressions.” With his instinctive understanding of history and the vicissitudes of national power, Churchill predicted that there might one day be a war with the Russians “more bloody” than that with Germany: “I want to sleep for billions of years…. Stupendous issues are unfolding before our eyes, and we are only specks of dust that have settled in the night on the map of the world.”

Elliott apologized to his father for offending Churchill, but the President simply laughed: “Forget it. Why, Winston will have forgotten all about it when he wakes up.”

The President was wrong. Elliott later ruefully noted that before Tehran, Churchill had included him on country weekends at his official retreat, Chequers. But after hearing Elliott’s toast to Stalin, the Prime Minister never invited him again.

•   •  •

ON WEDNESDAY EVENING, December 1, Roosevelt told Churchill and Stalin that the question before them was “whether or not to split up Germany.” Determined to prove that he shared Stalin’s ardor for shattering postwar German power, he upped the ante from three German states to five. He added that the port of Hamburg, the Kiel Canal and the rich industrial mining regions of the Ruhr and the Saar should go under international control.

Churchill said, “If I might use the American idiom, the President has said a mouthful!” He would consider some adjustments in the map of Germany but would commit His Majesty’s government only to the separation of Prussia.

“If Germany is to be dismembered,” said Stalin, “it should really be dismembered.” Singling out Prussia wasn’t enough. Prussian officers might provide the cement, but “all Germans fight like beasts,” as the Anglo-Americans would discover when they started fighting in northern Europe.

Eager to keep Stalin friendly, Roosevelt quickly retreated from his armchair theories about Prussia. He conceded that since World War I, there had really been “no difference” between Prussians and Germans. Southern Germany had simply lacked the tradition of an “officer caste.”

Churchill warned that even if Roosevelt succeeded in dividing Germany into seven parts, “sooner or later they will reunite into one nation…. The main thing is to keep Germany divided, if only for fifty years.”5

Stalin scoffed that whatever the Allies did, the Germans would always want to reunite. The World War II victors must maintain the strength to “beat the Germans” if they ever tried to forcibly reunite and start “down the path of a new war.”

Churchill said that Stalin seemed to want “a Europe composed of little states” that were “separated and weak.” He did not need to add that such a Europe would be subject to the domination of a powerful Soviet Union. “Not Europe,” said Stalin, “but Germany.”

Roosevelt sided with Stalin: “Germany was less dangerous to civilization when it was in 107 provinces.” Churchill told his allies that he hoped they would not go to that extreme.

1. Misinterpreting what the State Department intended, Molotov may have presumed that this meant large categories of materials such as steel, chemicals, synthetic oil and rubber.

2. A summary trial for an offense committed during military operations. Such courts-martial had once often occurred around drumheads.

3. Roosevelt did not say so aloud, but American control of the northernmost zone in Germany would reassure the Soviets by maintaining their direct access to the Atlantic.

4. On New Year’s Day 1942, in Washington, D.C., twenty-six anti-Axis powers had signed a “Declaration by United Nations” pledging support for the principles of international cooperation listed by Roosevelt and Churchill in their August 1941 Atlantic Charter. In October 1943, in Moscow, the Soviet, British and American governments went further, pledging to found a world organization that would preserve security and peace.

5. Churchill could not know how prescient he was. Ultimately Germany remained divided for forty-five years after World War II.









Chapter Four

“On the Back of an Envelope”




BY WEDNESDAY, January 12, 1944, Franklin Roosevelt was back at the White House, suffering from what the doctors called influenza, caught during his Tehran journey. In the presidential bedchamber, propped up in his old three-quarter mahogany bed, surrounded by dozens of naval prints and family pictures, Roosevelt thrust out his hand to greet General Dwight Eisenhower.

He had just named Ike to be Supreme Commander of Operation Overlord, the Anglo-American invasion of northern Europe. When Stalin had asked Roosevelt at Tehran who would lead the great invasion, the President had said he had not yet decided. Stalin replied that therefore the British and Americans must not be serious. Roosevelt got the message. Stopping in Tunis on the way back to Washington, he told Eisenhower that he would be the commander.

Eisenhower had always been amazed by Roosevelt’s mastery of geography. “The most obscure places in faraway countries were always accurately placed on his mental map,” he later wrote. But he was also unsettled by Roosevelt’s insistence on keeping his own counsel. Years later he privately caviled that Roosevelt was “almost an egomaniac in his belief in his own wisdom.”

So secretive was Roosevelt about Tehran that he did not confide to Ike his discussions with Stalin and Churchill about dismembering Germany. Eisenhower pleaded against dividing the conquered state into three occupation zones. Letting a single commander and an Allied military government run all of Germany, he said, would be simpler and more likely to ensure that the Red Army would behave.

Roosevelt assured him that he could handle the Russians. Soon after he returned to Washington, he encouraged his Secretary of War, Henry Stimson, to scotch the earlier notion of an Anglo-American-Soviet joint occupation force. Instead, each country should appoint a military governor to run its own occupation zone.

 

AT TEHRAN, the Big Three had asked the newly established three-power European Advisory Commission to suggest zones for Germany. Roosevelt had conceived of the EAC as something that would buy time and get the Soviets into the habit of consulting the West on postwar questions.

The American commissioner, ambassador to London John Winant, considered himself not Hull’s but the President’s man.1 Winant complained to Roosevelt that Hull gave him his orders, but the Secretary of State did not know what the President had said at Tehran about the permanent division of Germany or anything else. Winant did, since he had been at Tehran, but he didn’t know how much he was supposed to tell Hull.

Winant later frankly told Roosevelt by cable that in all “recorded history,” he did not think that any “commission created by governments for a serious purpose has had less support from the governments creating it than the European Advisory Commission.” This was just what Roosevelt had in mind.

At the EAC, Winant was not inclined to submit State Department and other proposals that he knew had been drafted in ignorance of Roosevelt’s tough private talk about Germany. Such papers envisaged Germany’s return to its pre-Hitler borders, preservation of its centralized administrative machinery and rebuilding of its industry—with limits on warmaking potential—in order to ease the country’s “integration” into the world economy.

In London, on the commission’s opening day, Friday, January 14, 1944, the British member, Sir William Strang, proposed dividing Germany into a northeastern Soviet zone, a northwestern British zone and a southwestern  American zone.2 One hundred ten miles inside the Soviet zone, Berlin would be jointly occupied by all three powers and, unlike the zones, administered by a combined Allied Control Council.

[image: map1]

Given the military facts of the moment, Britain’s proposal was lavish to the West. Operation Overlord was still merely a promise. Who could know whether the Anglo-American invasion would succeed? Still, Britain was granting itself and America almost two-thirds of 1937 Germany.

Unbeknownst to the Anglo-Americans, Stalin had actually been considering a proposal that would have been even more generous to the West. Soviet archives opened in the 1990s include a draft document that would have had the Soviet zone extend no farther west than the Elbe River.3

Stalin’s advisers wanted to endorse the British plan. According to the newly opened Soviet archives, they privately suggested that not only Berlin but Hamburg and the Kiel Canal should be jointly occupied, just as Roosevelt had suggested at Tehran. But Stalin refused. Nor did he revive his suggestion at Tehran that the Soviets deserved a stake in an internationalized Ruhr. Perhaps he hoped that the Anglo-Americans would reciprocate by renouncing their desire to jointly occupy Berlin. They did not.

When Roosevelt was informed of the zones agreed upon by the British and Soviets, he was irritated. He told the State Department that the zones must “conform with what I decided on months ago.” But Hull and his new Under Secretary, Edward Stettinius, had no idea what the President meant. They suggested to Roosevelt that it might be helpful for them to see the secret records of the Tehran conversations. But the President refused.

The Joint Chiefs, of course, knew all about Tehran. They had dug up the National Geographic map that Roosevelt had scribbled on while sailing for the Big Three conference and translated it into a formal proposal. When Winant saw the map, he was astonished. The proposed zones would cut crudely across German geography and existing administrative boundaries. The American zone would include forty-six percent of German territory. For their years of blood and sacrifice, the Soviets would get a measly twenty percent.

When Winant presented the proposal to the EAC in London, the Soviet commissioner, Feodor Gusev, was furious. He complained that the United States was awfully grabby for a country whose only troops on the European continent were now stalled in Italy.

 

IN THE OVAL OFFICE ON MONDAY, April 3, 1944, the matter was brought to Roosevelt by Winant’s counselor, George Kennan, the American diplomat who would later become famous for his strategic thinking after World War II. The President told Kennan that he would not accept Churchill’s plan to saddle him with the southern zone and the problems of postwar France.

Kennan explained that he had come to discuss the boundary of the Soviet zone. He showed Roosevelt the plan drafted from his scratchings on the National Geographic map. The President laughed: “Why, that’s just something I once drew on the back of an envelope.” He ordered Winant to approve the British plan, with the exception of America’s consignment to southern Germany.

Winant had another worry. The EAC had agreed on a three-power occupation of Berlin, which would be divided into three sectors, but no one had asked the Soviets to guarantee access rights across their zone to the city. Wary of depending on Soviet goodwill, Eisenhower suggested locating the Allied military government of postwar Germany not in Berlin but a “cantonment capital,” to be built at the junction of the three occupation zones.

Winant was instructed by his State Department superiors that Berlin should be no problem. Not only would there be cooperation between the Soviets and the West, but if the Soviets accepted Western rights to be present in postwar Berlin, they must naturally also acknowledge the right to travel to and from the city. With this the British agreed.

In one of the great mistakes of modern diplomacy, Winant was ordered not to raise the matter of access with the Russians because it would make them too suspicious. Nor did Roosevelt or Churchill ever consider the issue serious enough to take up with Stalin.

 

AFTER TEHRAN, Stalin pressed Roosevelt to soften his demand for unconditional surrender by Germany. As Molotov told the American ambassador in Moscow, Averell Harriman, Stalin felt that unless the Germans were told exactly what to expect after defeat, Hitler and Goebbels would exploit their “fear of the unknown” and “stiffen the German will to fight.”

As he planned his invasion of France, Eisenhower strongly felt the same way. His psychology experts had told him that if a “proper mood” were created in the German General Staff, there “might even be a German Badoglio.”4 Eisenhower asked both Roosevelt and Churchill to give some hope to the Germans that would weaken resistance when Anglo-American forces hit the beaches. The Prime Minister wrote Roosevelt to ask whether he would like to join him in exploring the matter with “Uncle Joe” Stalin.5

Roosevelt replied that they didn’t know enough about whether unconditional surrender was really stiffening German resistance to go on any such “fishing expedition.” He reminded Churchill that he had assured his fellow Americans on Christmas Eve by radio that the Allies had “no intention to enslave the German people,” merely to “rid them once and for all of Naziism and Prussian militarism and the fantastic and disastrous notion that they constitute the ‘Master Race.’ ”

Churchill told Eden that he could not disagree: “I must say I think it is all wrong for the generals to start shivering before the battle.”

The Prime Minister told Eisenhower that, at Tehran, he and Roosevelt had agreed to let Russia seize a huge amount of German machinery after the war—and that Stalin wanted to take millions of Germans to help rebuild Russia. Therefore a “frank statement of what is going to happen to Germany would not necessarily have a reassuring effect upon the German people.” They “might prefer the vaguer terrors of unconditional surrender.”

Roosevelt complained to Hull about Churchill’s and Stalin’s efforts to whittle away at his policy. He said that in April 1865, before surrendering to General Ulysses S. Grant, General Robert E. Lee had talked of conditions and Grant had told him he must trust his innate fairness. When Lee mentioned the Confederate officers’ horses, Grant replied that they should take them home, as they would be needed for spring plowing.6“A few incidents like this,” Roosevelt said, would have more effect on Germans than “lots of conversations.”

In March 1944, Admiral William Leahy, who presided over the Chiefs of Staff, reported to Roosevelt that the Nazi “gangsters” in Berlin were telling Germans that their enemies intended their “extermination.” Couldn’t the Allies issue a pledge that only German “military aggression” would be destroyed?

Roosevelt replied that he was “not willing” to say “that we do not intend to destroy the German nation” as long as the Germans kept using the term Reich. His “somewhat long study and personal experience in and out of Germany” made him believe that “German philosophy cannot be changed by decree, law or military order.” It must be “evolutionary” and might take “two generations.”

Still, the President did not want to slam the door on Churchill or his Chiefs. With the cross-Channel invasion now planned for June, he asked Churchill, “What would you think of a statement by me alone along these lines, to be issued after D-Day?” He could declare that the Anglo-Americans sought the “total destruction” not of the German people but of “the philosophy of those Germans who have announced that they could subjugate the world.”

Churchill replied, “If there were nothing between us except that the Germans have an evil philosophy, there would be little ground for the war going on.”

Then, on June 6, 1944, the mighty Anglo-American armies landed on Hitler’s Fortress Europe.

 

FROM BERN, Allen Dulles of the OSS insisted that Roosevelt’s unconditional surrender policy was an “ideal gift” to the Nazis that would lengthen the war and cost Allied lives. For more than a year, Dulles had been anxious about signs that the Soviet Union might try to make a peace deal with Berlin. He considered the Free Germany Committee, Stalin’s dream German government-in-exile, a menace to the “maintenance of Western democracy in central Europe.” He warned Washington that with Churchill and Roosevelt so adamant about unconditional surrender, “Moscow has been the only source of hope for the Germans.”

Dulles had developed fruitful sources among those Germans who were plotting against Hitler. When some raised the possibility of a separate peace with the Anglo-Americans, Dulles longed for the liberty to explore it. “I do not understand what our policy is,” he carped to Washington, “and what offers, if any, we could give to the resistance movement.”

In April 1944, one group of conspirators had asked Dulles for guarantees that if they toppled Hitler and his regime, Britain and America would negotiate a peace with the new post-Nazi government, after which the German army would turn full throttle against the Soviets. Dulles reported to Washington that the conspirators were eager to “prevent Central Europe from coming ideologically and factually under the control of Russia.” He jocularly observed that the plotters seemed to be trapped in “the old predicament of capitulating to the East or to the West: the Germans can never perceive the third alternative of capitulating to both at the same moment.”

On the afternoon of July 20, 1944, at the American embassy in Bern, Dulles learned that Stauffenberg had made his move. He later informed Roosevelt and OSS Chief William Donovan that according to one of his two primary contacts with the plotters, Hans Gisevius,7 who had by then escaped from Berlin and fled to Switzerland, Stauffenberg might have tried to broker a separate German-Soviet peace and a “workers and peasants” government in Berlin. Gisevius claimed that the “old-line Generals” within the conspiracy had favored a separate peace with the Anglo-Americans but did not oppose Stauffenberg “since he was the only one willing to risk his life” and “the only person in a position to place the bomb.”

After the failed assassination, and Hitler’s blood purge of potential internal enemies, the war was likely to go on until the Allies marched into Berlin. Dulles found a fresh way to whittle away at unconditional surrender. He warned Roosevelt and Donovan that when Anglo-American soldiers stepped onto German soil, there might be “stubborn resistance” unless they chose the “right kind of Germans” as collaborators. He urged that Britain and America try to get local German military officers to smooth the way for Anglo-American occupation of towns and villages. If the German officers played ball, “assuming they are not marked as war criminals,” they would be “treated with consideration.”

Dulles insisted that his plan could “drive a wedge in the German army before the effects of the Soviet successes in the East create chaos in Germany.” Without it, he warned, many Germans would accept a “Bolshevized Germany” in order to shorten the war.

 

ROOSEVELT WORRIED ABOUT fierce German resistance to the Anglo-American soldiers who were landing on Fortress Europe. He asked his speechwriter Robert Sherwood to try his hand at a statement that could be issued to German soldiers once the Allies were in France. Sherwood, who had written the popular dramas Idiot’s Delight and Abe Lincoln in Illinois, produced a draft saying, “Your Nazi leaders, who led you into war from no better motive than the lust for power and conquest, have failed.” The “one remaining hope” of those leaders was that “if you can be made to resist long enough, they can get a compromise peace.

“How utterly senseless!” the proclamation would say. “Victorious armies never compromise.” Instead, Germany must “atone” for its “wanton destruction of lives and property,” with Naziism “totally destroyed.” The more quickly fighting and slaughter ended, “the more quickly can that better civilization come to the whole world.” In that world, “Germany, in due time and as she…proves herself worthy, will have her due place.”

In mid-July, a month after D-Day, Roosevelt told Hull that “Allied progress on all the fronts” of the war was not “sufficiently impressive” to issue such a statement.

 

DURING THE FIRST TWO YEARS that Americans fought the Germans, there was, at the center of Franklin Roosevelt’s many private conversations about postwar Germany, a strange void. Throughout his fulminations against “Junkers” and “Prussian militarism” and the German love of marching in uniforms, he did not mention the biggest reason why any civilized human being of the 1940s should be uniquely anxious about the German national character.

1. At the moment, Winant was having a discreet romance with Churchill’s daughter Sarah.

2. The proposed western boundary of the Soviet zone was the same as the one that ultimately prevailed after VE-Day.

3. The draft proposal was dated January 11, 1944. If there was any chance that the Russians might have offered it at the EAC, they scrapped it when the British produced the more generous plan three days later.

4. Referring to the new Prime Minister, Marshal Pietro Badoglio, who, after Mussolini’s arrest in July 1943, negotiated with the Allies on terms for Italy’s unconditional surrender.

5. Roosevelt and Churchill both jocularly referred to Stalin by this nickname, sometimes shortened in their correspondence to “U.J.”

6. Despite Roosevelt’s comparisons of his unconditional surrender policy to Appomattox, Grant’s demand for unconditional surrender came not at Appomattox but Fort Donelson, when he accepted the surrender of General Simon Bolivar Buckner.

7. Dulles did not name Gisevius in his dispatch.
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